No. _____

SCA EFiled: Dec 08 2023

09:05AM EST IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINAR Saction ID 71576511

WASTE MANAGEMENT OF WEST VIRGINIA, INC., LCS SERVICES, INC., ALLIED WASTE SERVICES OF NORTH AMERICA, LLC d/b/a REPUBLIC SERVICES OF WEST VIRGINIA, and JEFFERSON COUNTY SOLID WASTE AUTHORITY,

Petitioners,

v.

PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION OF WEST VIRGINIA and APPLE VALLEY WASTE SERVICES, INC. d/b/a APPLE VALLEY WASTE,

Respondents.

From the Public Service Commission of West Virginia Case No. 23-0813-SWF-PW-CN

PETITIONERS' BRIEF

WASTE MANAGEMENT OF WEST VIRGINIA, INC. and LCS SERVICES, INC.

By Counsel

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Whether the PSC erred in granting Apple Valley's Petition for a Determination that No Certificate of Need is Required?

2. Whether the PSC erred in concluding that consolidation of load operations limited to waste collected solely from a motor carrier's customers, performed at no cost to customers other than the motor carrier's existing rates, and occurring prior to transportation to a disposal facility, are functions included within the certificate authority granted to the motor carrier who collects solid waste? *See* Appx. 72-73.

3. Whether the PSC erred in concluding that the consolidation of loads operations of AVW of West Virginia, Inc. d/b/a Apple Valley Waste ("AVW") does not constitute a solid waste disposal facility requiring a separate certificate beyond the authority to operate as a trash hauler already authorized for AVW in its motor carrier certificates? *See* Appx. 73.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the November 8, 2023 Commission Order granting Apple Valley's Petition for a Determination that No Certificate of Need is Required (the "Petition").

In 2013, the PSC granted Entsorga West Virginia, LLC ("Entsorga") a certificate of need to construct and operate a mechanical-biological treatment solid waste facility.¹ *See* Appx. at 3. Upon information and belief, the facility is owned by the Berkeley County Solid Waste Authority ("BCSWA"), and Entsorga had a lease agreement with the BCSWA to operate the facility. *See* Appx. at 4.

Apple Valley's parent company has/had an ownership interest in Entsorga. *See* Appx. at 3-4. Apple Valley is an affiliate of AVW. *See* Appx. at 3, 69, 72. AVW has certificated authority to operate as a common carrier by motor vehicle in the transportation of solid waste in Berkeley, Grant, Hampshire, Jefferson, and Mineral Counties.² *See* Appx. at 3, 69. AVW previously disposed of a portion of the solid waste it collected at the Entsorga facility. *See* Appx. at 3, 69, 72.

The Entsorga facility was temporarily closed in May 2022 and later abandoned by Entsorga. See Appx. at 4, 69, 72. On February 6, 2023, Entsorga filed for bankruptcy, which filing was subsequently dismissed. See Appx. at 4, 70.

After the dismissal of the bankruptcy case, BCSWA purportedly terminated its lease with Entsorga. *See* Appx. at 4, 70. Apple Valley was allegedly the successful respondent in a request for proposal issued by the BCSWA to use the Entsorga facility on a short-term, month-to-month basis. *See* Appx. at 5, 70. According to Apple Valley, under the terms of the lease agreement with the BCSWA,³ AVW will use a portion of the Entsorga facility as "an internal transfer station to aggregate solid waste collected by AVW onto large roll off containers, which would then be transported to solid waste facilities when full." Appx. at 5; *see* Appx. at 8 (Apple Valley will use

¹ See Entsorga West Virginia, LLC, Case No. 12-0803-SWF-CN, 2013 W. Va. PUC LEXIS 499 (Mar. 11, 2013).

² AVW's certificated authority is more fully set forth in its tariff on file with the PSC. *See* AVW of West Virginia, Inc. d/b/a Apple Valley Waste, *Rates, Rules and Regulations Governing Transportation of Solid Waste* (Jun. 14, 2023), https://www.psc.state.wv.us/scripts/utilities/ViewDocument.cfm?TariffID=13335.

³ The lease agreement was not of record before the PSC. It is assumed for purposes of this Brief that the lease agreement is between Apple Valley and BCSWA.

the Entsorga facility "solely to transfer waste from individual collection vehicles to transport trailers."); Appx. at 71-72.

On October 16, 2023, Apple Valley filed the Petition requesting that the PSC determine that it lacks jurisdiction to grant a certificate of need to Apple Valley because the proposed Apple Valley facility "will not be a commercial solid waste facility and will not serve the public." Appx. at 7; *see* Appx. at 45-46. PSC Staff filed a Response to the Petition on October 18, 2023. *See* Appx. at 11-18. Petitioners each filed a Motion to Intervene and Protest. *See* Appx. at 20-33, 39-43. On October 30, 2023, Apple Valley filed a Reply to PSC Staff's Response and Petitioners' Motions to Intervene. *See* Appx. at 44-58. PSC Staff filed a Sur-Reply to Apply Valley's Reply on November 3, 2023. *See* Appx. at 60-68.

On November 8, 2023, the PSC granted the Petition.⁴ *See* Appx. at 69-73. The PSC found that "it does not appear that [Apple Valley] is operating any facility" because "[BCSWA] owns the facility and has entered into a lease agreement which allows [AVW], a certificated hauler of solid waste in West Virginia, to use a portion of the facilities to transfer waste it collects from customers from small trucks to larger trucks (consolidation operation)." Appx. at 71. The PSC also found that "[c]onsolidation of load operations limited to waste collected solely from a carrier's customers, performed at no cost to customers other than the carrier's existing rates, and occurring prior to transportation to a disposal facility, are functions included within the certificate authority granted to the motor carriers who collect solid waste." Appx. at 72-73. The PSC further found that "consolidation of loads operations of [AVW] does not constitute a solid waste disposal facility requiring a separate certificate beyond the authority to operate as a trash hauler already authorized for [AVW] in its motor carrier certificates." Appx. at 73.

⁴ The PSC also granted Petitioners' motions to intervene. See Appx. at 73.

On December 6, 2023, Petitioners filed a Joint Motion to Stay Pending Appeal. *See* Appx. at 74-84. Petitioners' Joint Motion is pending before the PSC at this time.⁵

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The PSC erred in granting the Petition. The PSC found that (1) the proposed Apple Valley facility is not a commercial solid waste facility, (2) Apple Valley is not a solid waste facility operator, and (3) a certificate of need is not required for the proposed Apple Valley facility. The PSC's findings, however, are inconsistent with the plain language of the relevant statutes and rules. The proposed Apple Valley facility meets the definition of a commercial solid waste facility because the facility will accept solid waste generated or created by sources other than the owner or operator of the facility. See W. Va. Code § 22-15-2. Moreover, the proposed Apple Valley facility meets none of the other requirements that would exempt it from the requirement of obtaining a certificate of need from the PSC. Apple Valley also meets the definition of a solid waste facility operator. Indeed, Apple Valley admits that it intends to operate a commercial solid waste facility. Under Vest Virginia law, any person applying for a permit to operate a commercial solid waste facility must obtain a certificate of need from the PSC. See W. Va. Code § 24-2-1c. Because the proposed Apple Valley facility is a commercial solid waste facility, and because Apple Valley is a solid waste facility operator, a certificate of need is required for the proposed Apple Valley facility.

The PSC also erred in finding that consolidation of load operations limited to waste collected solely from a motor carrier's customers, performed at no cost to customers other than the carrier's existing rates, and occurring prior to transportation to a disposal facility, are functions included within the certificate authority granted to a motor carrier who collects solid waste. The

⁵ If the PSC refuses to grant a stay or if the relief afforded in not acceptable, Petitioners intend to file a motion to stay the Commission Order pending appeal with this Court. *See* W. Va. R.A.P. 28(b).

PSC's findings in this case directly contradict the PSC's findings in prior cases. More specifically, the PSC found that the proposed facilities in those cases, which are substantially the same as the proposed Apple Valley facility, were commercial solid waste facilities and that the motor carrier in those cases was not the generator or creator of the solid waste being disposed of at the facilities.

Finally, the PSC erred in finding that consolidation of loads operations of AVW does not constitute a solid waste disposal facility requiring a separate certificate beyond the authority to operate as a trash hauler already authorized for AVW in its motor carrier certificates. The PSC based its finding entirely on the unsupported representations of Apple Valley. Given Petitioners' protest and PSC Staff's objection, the PSC should have allowed the parties to present evidence in support of their respective positions. Instead, the PSC denied Petitioners due process by hastily issuing an order that simply relied on the unsupported assertions of Apple Valley.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Petitioners submit that oral argument is necessary because the dispositive issues have not been authoritatively decided and the decisional process would be significantly aided by oral argument. See W. Va. R.A.P. 10(c)(6), 18(a)(3)-(4). Petitioners submit that the case should be set for a Rule 20 argument because the case involves issues of first impression and involves inconsistencies or conflicts among the decisions and/or positions of the PSC and West Virginia Department of Environmental Protection ("DEP") regarding the regulation of commercial solid waste facilities. See W. Va. R.A.P. 10(c)(6), 20(a). Should the Court set the case for a Rule 19 argument, Petitioners submit that the minimum time set forth in Rule 19 will not be sufficient given the number of parties and potential amicus curiae. See W. Va. R.A.P. 10(c)(6). Petitioners would request an additional ten (10) minutes per side, or an appropriate amount of time as determined by the Court, so that each of the parties' arguments may be adequately presented and considered. *See* W. Va. R.A.P. 10(c)(6), 19(e).

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of Review.

"The detailed standard for [the Court's] review of an order of the [PSC] . . . may be summarized as follows: (1) whether the [PSC] exceeded its statutory jurisdiction and powers; (2) whether there is adequate evidence to support the [PSC's] findings; and, (3) whether the substantive result of the [PSC's] order is proper."⁶ Syl. Pt. 1, *Equitrans, L.P. v. Pub. Serv. Comm 'n of W. Va.*, 247 W. Va. 646, 885 S.E.2d 584 (2022) (citations omitted). Additionally, "[i]nterpreting a statute or an administrative rule or regulation presents a purely legal question subject to *de novo* review." Syl. Pt. 2, *Mason Cnty. Pub. Serv. Dist. v. PSC of W. Va.*, 247 W. Va. 580, 885 S.E.2d 161 (2022).

II. The PSC Erred in Granting Apple Valley's Petition for a Determination that No Certificate of Need is Required.

A. The Proposed Apple Valley Facility is a Commercial Solid Waste Facility.

A "commercial solid waste facility" is defined as

any solid waste facility *which accepts solid waste generated by sources other than the owner or operator of the facility* and does not include an approved solid waste facility owned and operated by a person for the sole purpose of the disposal, processing, or composting of solid wastes created by that person or such person

⁶ "In reviewing a [PSC] order, [the Court] will first determine whether the [PSC's] order, viewed in light of the relevant facts and of the [PSC's] broad regulatory duties, abused or exceeded its authority. [The Court] will examine the manner in which the [PSC] has employed the methods of regulation which it has itself selected, and must decide whether each of the order's essential elements is supported by substantial evidence. Finally, [the Court] will determine whether the order may reasonably be expected to maintain financial integrity, attract necessary capital, and fairly compensate investors for the risks they have assumed, and yet provide appropriate protection to the relevant public interests, both existing and foreseeable. The [C]ourt's responsibility is not to supplant the [PSC's] balance of these interests with one more nearly to its liking, but instead to assure itself that the [PSC] has given reasoned consideration to each of the pertinent factors." Syl. Pt. 2, *Monongahela Power Co. v. Public Serv. Comm'n*, 166 W. Va. 423, 276 S.E.2d 179 (1981).

and other persons on a cost-sharing or nonprofit basis and does not include land upon which reused or recycled materials are legitimately applied for structural fill, road base, mine reclamation, and similar applications.

W. Va. Code § 22-15-2 (emphasis added); see W. Va. Code § 22C-4-2(b); W. Va. C.S.R. §§ 54-

4-2.9, 54-5-2.6. A "solid waste facility" is defined as

any system, facility, land, contiguous land, improvements on the land, structures, or other appurtenances or methods used for processing, recycling, or disposing of solid waste, including landfills, *transfer stations*, materials recovery facilities, mixed waste processing facilities, sewage sludge processing facilities, commercial composting facilities, and other such facilities not herein specified, but not including land upon which sewage sludge is applied in accordance with [W. Va. Code § 22-15-20]. . . . Provided, [t]hat a salvage yard, licensed and regulated pursuant to the terms of [W. Va. Code § 17-23-1, *et seq.*], is not a solid waste facility and an advanced recycling facility is not a solid waste facility.

W. Va. Code § 22-15-2 (emphasis added). A "transfer station" is defined as

a structure, or combination of structures, machinery or devices at a place, location or facility where solid waste is taken from collection vehicles and placed in other transportation units for movement to another solid waste management facility; Provided that when *the generator of solid waste disposes of said waste* into a container such as a roll-off, greenbox or bin that is temporarily positioned (i.e. not more than five days) at a specific location for transport by a transportation unit, such container will not be considered a transfer station. Under any circumstances, leachate, litter, and windblown materials must be properly managed.

W. Va. C.S.R. § 33-1-2.133 (emphasis added); see W. Va. C.S.R. §§ 54-3-2.15, 54-4-2.31.

Here, Apple Valley represented to the PSC that AVW would use a portion of the Entsorga facility as "an internal transfer station to aggregate solid waste collected by AVW onto large roll off containers, which would only be transported to solid waste facilities when full." Appx. at 5; *see* Appx. at 71-72. The PSC found that the proposed Apple Valley facility is not a commercial

solid waste facility. *See* Appx. at 72-73. The PSC's findings, however, are inconsistent with the plain language of the relevant statutes and rules.

The proposed Apple Valley facility meets the definition of a commercial solid waste facility, solid waste facility, and transfer station as the facility will accept solid waste generated or created by sources other than the owner or operator of the facility. *See* W. Va. Code § 22-15-2; W. Va. C.S.R. § 33-1-2.133. AVW will dispose of solid waste generated or created by its customers at a facility operated by Apple Valley and owned by the BCSWA. In other words, neither BCSWA, Apple Valley, nor AVW will generate or create the solid waste disposed of at the proposed Apple Valley facility.

Moreover, the proposed Apple Valley facility meets none of the other requirements that would exempt it from the requirement of obtaining a certificate of need. There is no evidence that the proposed Apple Valley facility is (1) "an approved solid waste facility owned and operated by a person for the sole purpose of the disposal, processing, or composting of solid wastes created by that person or such person and other persons on a cost-sharing or nonprofit basis," W. Va. Code § 22-15-2; (2) "land upon which reused or recycled materials are legitimately applied for structural fill, road base, mine reclamation, and similar applications," W. Va. Code § 22-15-2; (3) "land upon which sewage sludge is applied," W. Va. Code § 22-15-2; (4) "a salvage yard," W. Va. Code § 22-15-2; or (5) "an advanced recycling facility," W. Va. Code § 22-15-2. There is also no evidence that solid waste will be disposed of in "a container such as a roll-off, greenbox or bin that is temporarily positioned (i.e. not more than five days) at a specific location for transport by a transportation unit." W. Va. C.S.R. § 33-1-2.133. It should be noted that PSC Staff agreed with Petitioners as set forth in PSC Staff's Sur-Reply to Apple Valley's Reply wherein PSC Staff stated:

Apple Valley intends to collect solid waste generated by sources other than itself to bring to the Enstorga site until it is ready to be taken to a landfill. These activities clearly fall within the Legislature's definition of a commercial solid waste facility. Apple Valley is a regulated entity that provides a service to the public. Apple Valley is attempting to usurp Commission jurisdiction by suggesting that its activities in collecting solid waste from the public should not be regulated.

Appx. at 64. Accordingly, the PSC erred in finding that the proposed Apple Valley facility is not a commercial solid waste facility.

B. Apple Valley is a Solid Waste Facility Operator.

A "solid waste facility operator" is defined as "any person or persons possessing or exercising operational, managerial, or financial control over a commercial solid waste facility, whether or not such person holds a certificate of convenience and necessity or a permit for such facility." W. Va. Code § 22-15-2. Apple Valley represented to the PSC that it would use the Entsorga facility to "operate a conventional, internal transfer station." Appx. at 8. A transfer station is a commercial solid waste facility. *See* W. Va. Code § 22-15-2; W. Va. C.S.R. § 33-1-2.133. By its own admission, Apple Valley is a solid waste facility operator. Accordingly, the PSC erred in finding that Apple Valley is not a solid waste facility operator.

Moreover, Apple Valley represented to the PSC that it was the successful respondent in a request for proposal issued by the BCSWA to use the Entsorga facility on a short-term, month-tomonth basis, and that, under the terms of the lease agreement with the BCSWA, AVW would use the Entsorga facility as a transfer station. *See* Appx. at 5, 70. Inasmuch as the lease agreement was not of record before the PSC, it is unclear who possesses or exercises operational, managerial, or financial control over the proposed Apple Valley facility. Put differently, the BCSWA, Apple Valley, and/or AVW may each be a solid waste facility operator. As such, there is inadequate evidence to support the PSC's finding that Apple Valley is not a solid waste facility operator.

C. A Certificate of Need is Required for the Proposed Apple Valley Facility.

Under West Virginia law, "[a]ny person applying for a permit to construct, operate or expand a commercial solid waste facility as defined in [W. Va. Code § 22-15-2], or any person seeking a major permit modification for a commercial solid waste facility from the [DEP] first shall obtain a certificate of need from the [PSC]." W. Va. Code § 24-2-1c. As set forth above, the proposed Apple Valley facility is a commercial solid waste facility. Apple Valley is a solid waste facility operator. Apple Valley must, therefore, apply for a permit from the DEP. But first, Apple Valley must obtain a certificate of need from the PSC.

In the Petition, Apple Valley argues that a certificate of need is not required because the proposed Apple Valley facility "does not meet the definition of a 'commercial solid waste facility' as no commerce will occur." Appx. at 6. In support of this argument, Apple Valley relies on the definition of "commerce" from the Sixth Edition of Black's Law Dictionary, which defines "commerce," in part, as "intercourse by way of trade and traffic between different peoples."⁷ *Commerce, Black's Law Dictionary* (6th ed. 1990).

Apple Valley, however, ignores the fact that "commercial solid waste facility" is defined by statute. Apple Valley further ignores the fact trade or traffic will occur between different peoples as AVW will dispose of solid waste generated or created by its customers at a facility operated by Apple Valley and owned by the BCSWA. The BCSWA will also "receive monthly rent payments" from Apple Valley. Appx. at 7. This is trade or traffic between different peoples.

In response, PSC Staff argued that a certificate of need should be required for the proposed Apple Valley facility because the PSC has jurisdiction over the facility and has exercised its

⁷ The Eleventh Edition of Black's Law Dictionary defines "commerce" as "[t]he exchange of goods and services, esp. on a large scale involving transportation between cities, states, and countries." *Commerce, Black's Law Dictionary* (11th ed. 2019). Apple Valley's proposed use of the facility would also involve the exchanges of goods and services.

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