IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Waste Management of West Virginia, Inc., LSC Services, Inc., Allied Waste Services of North America, LLC, d/b/a Republic Services of West Virginia, and Jefferson County Solid Waste Authority,

Petitioners

vs.) No. 23-694

The Public Service Commission of West Virginia and Apple Valley Waste Services, Inc. d/b/a Apple Valley Waste,

Respondents.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT APPLE VALLEY WASTE SERVICES, INC.

I.	INTRODUCTION
II.	ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR
III.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
IV.	SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT10
V.	STATEMENT OF ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION11
VI.	STANDARD OF REVIEW
VII.	ARGUMENT
	 A. THE PSC DID NOT EXCEED ITS POWERS AND JURISDICTION IN CORRECTLY DETERMINING THAT THE PROPOSED CONSOLIDATION OPERATION DOES NOT QUALIFY AS A "COMMERCIAL SOLID WASTE FACILITY" UNDER WEST VIRGINIA LAW
	C. THE SUBSTANTIVE RESULT OF THE COMMISSION ORDER IS PROPER AND BENEFITS THE PUBLIC20
VIII.	CONCLUSION

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

Chesapeake and Potomac Tel. Co. of W. Va. v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n of W. Va., 171 W. Va. 494, 300 S.E.2d 607 (1982)12		
Mason Co. Pub. Serv. Dist. v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n of W. Va., 247 W. Va. 580, 885 S.E.2d 161 (2022) 12, 18		
<i>State ex rel. Water Dev. Auth. v. Northern Wayne Co. Pub. Serv. Dist.</i> , 195 W. Va. 135, 464 S.E.2d 777 (1995)		
<i>Trulargo, LLC v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n of W. Va.,</i> 242 W. Va. 482, 836 S.E.2d 449 (2019) 12, 20		
United Fuel Gas Co. v. Battle, 153 W.Va. 222, 167 S.E.2d 890 (1969), cert. denied 396 U.S. 116, 90 S.Ct. 398, 24 L.Ed 309 (1969)		
 W. Va. Action Group v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n of W. Va., 233 W. Va. 327, 758 S.E.2d 254 (2014)		
Statutes		
W. Va. Code § 17-23-115		
W. Va. Code § 22-15-2 passim		
W. Va. Code § 22-15-20		
W. Va. Code § 24-1-1(a)(1)		
W. Va. Code § 24-1-1(a)(4)		
W. Va. Code § 24-2-1c passim		
W. Va. Code § 24-2-3		
W. Va. Code § 24-5-111		
W. Va. Code § 24A-2-3		

Other Authorities

Black's Law Dictionary 214 (Abridged 7th ed. 2000)14
Merriam Webster's Collegiate Dictionary 231 (10th ed. 1995)14
Williston on Contracts § 6:1 (4th ed., July 2023 update)14
Rules
W. Va. C.S.R. § 150-1-1, et. seq7
W. Va. C.S.R. § 150-1-26, Form No. 15
W. Va. C.S.R. § 150-2-1, <i>et seq</i> 7
W. Va. C.S.R. § 150-2-21, Tariff Form No. 427
Administrative Decisions
Apple Valley Waste Services, Inc., Case No. 23-0813-SWF-PW-CN, Comm'n Or. (Nov. 8, 2023)1
Apple Valley Waste Services, Inc., Case No. 23-0813-SWF-PW-CN, Comm'n Or., 2024 WL 109485 (W. Va. P.S.C. Jan. 5, 2024)10
<i>Fly-By-Nite Disposal Service, Inc.</i> , Case Nos. 02-1154-SWF-CN & 03-1163-MC-GI, Comm'n Or. (Feb. 25, 2008)
<i>Morgan Sanitation & Recycling Corp.</i> Case No. 98-1339, Comm'n Or. (Jan. 13, 2000)
Morgan Sanitation & Recycling Corp., Case No. 98-1339-SWF-CN (REOPENED), Comm'n Or. (May 24, 2001)

I. INTRODUCTION

Respondent Apple Valley Waste Services, Inc. ("Apple Valley"), an affiliate of AVW of West Virginia, Inc. ("AVW"), by counsel Bowles Rice LLP, hereby responds in opposition to Petitioners' Brief.¹ AVW is an intrastate motor carrier that collects solid waste. Appendix Record ("App.") at pp. 3, 72. By Commission Order entered on November 8, 2023, the Public Service Commission of West Virginia (the "PSC") correctly determined—under the facts, West Virginia law, and PSC precedent—that AVW's proposed solid waste consolidation operation at the former Entsorga facility is not a public service and does not require a certificate of need. *Apple Valley Waste Services, Inc.*, Case No. 23-0813-SWF-PW-CN, Comm'n Or. (Nov. 8, 2023), App. at pp. 69-73.

No certificate of need is required, because the proposal does not qualify as a "commercial solid waste facility" under the pertinent statutes, W. Va. Code §§ 22-15-2 and 24-2-1c. There are at least two reasons why.

First, no "commerce" (*i.e.*, exchange or buying and selling of commodities) will occur in the consolidation operation. Second, and relatedly, AVW will not "accept" any solid waste for disposal from a separate party in the

¹ Petitioners are Waste Management of West Virginia, Inc. ("Waste Management"); LCS Services, Inc. ("LCS"); Allied Waste Services of North America, LLC d/b/a Republic Services of West Virginia ("Republic"); and the Jefferson County Solid Waste Authority ("JCSWA").

operation; instead, AVW will consolidate waste already in its possession. AVW then will transport the waste to a commercial solid waste facility. There, the waste will be accepted for disposal by a separate party in exchange for its payment of a fee.

The internal consolidation operation at the former Entsorga facility will not be open to or serve the public. It will have no adverse impact on customer costs. Additionally, the operation will help defer AVW's need to request a rate increase from the PSC for solid waste collection services. In view of these and other salient facts, the proposal does not meet the definition of "commercial solid waste facility" in § 22-15-2, and the PSC correctly determined that the certificate of need requirement in § 24-2-1c does not apply. This Court should AFFIRM the Commission Order.

II. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

Did the PSC correctly determine that a certificated motor carrier's proposed solid waste consolidation operation does not qualify as a "commercial solid waste facility" that requires a certificate of need under W. Va. Code § 24-2-1c, where the operation:

- Will be limited to waste collected from the carrier's customers;
- Will be performed at no extra cost to those customers;

- Will occur prior to transportation to a commercial solid waste facility, where the waste will be accepted for disposal in exchange for the payment of a fee;
- Is already within the certificate authority granted to motor carriers who collect solid waste;
- Serves the public interest by, among other things, delaying a rate increase for solid waste collection services, lowering greenhouse gas emissions, and reducing road wear and tear; and
- Is supported by PSC precedent recognizing that a certificate of need is not required?

The answer is "Yes." The PSC correctly determined that the proposal does not require a certificate of need under § 24-2-1c. This Court should AFFIRM the Commission Order under the "highly deferential" standard of review mandated by West Virginia jurisprudence.²

² See, e.g., W. Va. Action Group v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n of W. Va., 233 W. Va. 327, 331-32, 758 S.E.2d 254, 258-59 (2014) (addressed in Standard of Review section of this Brief).

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

AVW, an intrastate motor carrier, holds a certificate from the PSC that authorizes it to provide solid waste (*e.g.*, garbage) collection services in Berkeley, Hampshire, Jefferson, and Mineral Counties, West Virginia. App. at pp. 3, 72.

Prior to May of 2022, AVW disposed a portion of the solid waste it collected at the certificated commercial solid waste facility in Berkeley County that was operated by lessee Entsorga West Virginia, LLC ("Entsorga"). *Id*. The facility—which is owned by the Berkeley County Solid Waste Authority (the "BCSWA")—was plagued with financial and operational issues during Entsorga's leasehold, and it closed temporarily in May of 2022. *Id*. at pp. 3-4, 71-72.

Entsorga subsequently abandoned the facility and the BCSWA terminated its lease with Entsorga. *Id.* at pp. 4, 72. Entsorga filed a bankruptcy petition and attempted to reorganize. *Id.* at p. 4. However, the U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the Northern District of West Virginia dismissed the petition based on Entsorga's inability to credibly show it could operate, due to a lack of insurance. *Id.*

Entsorga's abandonment of the facility created public health and safety issues. Fires broke out at the facility and burned from July 23-26, 2022.³ *Id.*

³ The Appendix contains a scrivener's error. Apple Valley's "Petition for a Determination that No Certificate of Need is Required" states, incorrectly, that the fires occurred on July 23-26, 2023. App. at p. 4. The fires actually occurred on July 23-26, 2022.

Without receiving compensation, AVW assisted the West Virginia Department of Environmental Protection ("DEP") and the BCSWA with extinguishing the fires. *Id.* at pp. 4, 69. AVW also removed roughly 75% of the garbage that was left in the facility at the time of abandonment and addressed a vermin problem. *Id.*

Unable to utilize the facility for waste disposal, AVW was forced to drive solid waste greater distances to alternative disposal sites. *Id.* at pp. 5, 72. This increased AVW's cost of operations. *Id.* Specifically, AVW's expenses in fuel, labor, and vehicle wear and tear escalated. *Id.* Additionally, some of the alternative disposal sites charged rates exceeding Entsorga's rates. *Id.*

AVW was in a difficult position financially, as there is extensive competition from *interstate* carriers in AVW's service area. *Id.* at p. 5. Requesting a rate increase would place AVW at risk of losing customers. *Id.*

On June 27, 2023, the BCSWA issued a request for proposal ("RFP") inviting responses for leasing the former Entsorga facility on a short term, month-to-month basis. *Id*. The BCSWA selected a proposal submitted by Apple Valley, AVW's affiliate. App. at pp. 5, 72. Apple Valley proposed that AVW would utilize the former Entsorga facility "as an *internal* transfer station⁴ to aggregate solid waste

⁴ The 2023 West Virginia Solid Waste Management Plan prepared by the West Virginia Solid Waste Management Board describes transfer stations as follows: "Transfer stations allow garbage from packers and smaller trucks to be transferred to larger trucks in areas where a long haul to the nearest landfill is necessary. On average, one large vehicle can haul 4 times the load of one standard size garbage

collected by AVW onto large roll off containers." *Id.* at p. 5 (emphasis added). When completely full, AVW would transport the roll off containers to a solid waste facility for disposal. *Id.* The PSC appropriately characterizes this practice of aggregating waste for easier transportation to a commercial disposal facility as being a "consolidation operation." *Id.* at p. 71.

Apple Valley estimates that utilizing the former Entsorga facility for the consolidation operation will reduce AVW's expenses by approximately \$100,000 per month, deferring "AVW's need to seek a rate increase." *Id.* at p. 5. The BCSWA, moreover, will benefit financially from having a tenant. *Id.* at p. 7.

In connection with commencing the proposed solid waste consolidation operation, Apple Valley filed a Petition with the PSC on October 16, 2023, pursuant to W. Va. Code § 24-2-1c. App. at pp. 1-10. The Petition sought a determination from the PSC that the proposed consolidation operation does not require a certificate of need. *Id.* at pp. 6-7. Apple Valley explains in the Petition that AVW's planned use of the facility will not render it a "commercial solid waste facility," because AWV will not impose charges on any customer and all consolidation efforts will be handled by AVW's employees. *Id.* The proposed consolidation operation will not be open to or serve the public. *Id.* at p. 7.

truck saving time, wear and tear on the trucks and fuel. Transfer stations are an essential part of the waste management system." App. at p. 56.

Alternatively, Apple Valley's Petition requests an emergency certificate of need on an expedited timetable, to the extent the PSC deems a certificate to be necessary. *Id.* at p. 8. The Petition answers the questions listed on the PSC's standard form certificate of need application. *Id.* at pp. 8-9; *see also* Rules of Practice and Procedure ("PSC Procedural Rules"), W. Va. C.S.R. § 150-1-1, *et. seq.*, at § 150-1-26, Form No. 15. Further, Apple Valley requests a waiver of the obligation to present a Tariff Rule 42 Exhibit⁵ or to propose and give notice of rates, as no members of the public will be affected by the emergency certificate of need application. App. at pp. 9-10.

PSC Staff filed a Response to Apple Valley's Petition on October 18, 2023. *Id.* at pp. 11-18. Waste Management and LCS filed a Motion to Intervene and Protest on October 20, 2023. *Id.* at pp. 20-27. Republic did likewise on October 23, 2023. *Id.* at pp. 28-33. On October 26, 2023, the JCSWA filed its Motion to Intervene and Protest. *Id.* at pp. 39-43.

On October 30, 2023, Apple Valley filed its Reply, with attachments. *Id.* at pp. 44-58. PSC Staff filed a Surreply on November 3, 2023. *Id.* at pp. 60-68.

⁵ A Tariff Rule 42 Exhibit provides extensive financial information regarding revenue, expenses, and investments and is used by the PSC to consider setting a rate. *See* Rules for the Construction and Filing of Tariffs ("PSC Tariff Rules"), W. Va. C.S.R. § 150-2-1, *et seq.*, at § 150-2-21 ("Tariff Form No. 42").

Thereafter, on November 8, 2023, the PSC entered a Commission Order granting Apple Valley's Petition and determining that no certificate of need is required under W. Va. Code § 24-2-1c. *Id.* at pp. 69-73. The PSC makes several pertinent Findings of Fact in the Commission Order based on publicly available information and the representations made in Apple Valley's Petition. *Id.* at p. 72. Among other things, the PSC's Findings of Fact reflect that:

- AVW's "inability to use the Entsorga facility as a place of disposal has increased its cost of operations by forcing it to drive greater distances to alternative disposal sites, which increases its operational expenses in fuel, labor, and vehicle wear and tear." *Id.* at p. 72, ¶ 4.
- AVW's solid waste consolidation operation will "aggregate [the] solid waste it collects onto roll off containers carried by larger trucks, which w[ill] then be transported to solid waste facilities." *Id.* at p. 72, ¶ 5.
- The "[c]onsolidation of loads as proposed by AVW should allow [it] to reduce its operating costs, which should ultimately help keep rates down for its solid waste customers." *Id.* at p. 72, ¶ 6.
- AVW "represents that its proposed practice will reduce AVW's expenses by approximately \$100,000 per month, which in turn will defer [its] need to seek a rate increase." *Id.* at p. 72, ¶ 7.

• "No entity other than AVW will use the facility to be located within the former Entsorga footprint." *Id.* at p. 72, ¶ 8.

After making these Findings of Fact, the PSC expresses two Conclusions of Law in the Commission Order. *Id.* at pp. 72-73. First, the PSC concludes that the "[c]onsolidation of load operations limited to waste collected solely from a carrier's customers, performed at no cost to customers other than the carrier's existing rates, and occurring prior to transportation to a disposal facility, are functions included within the certificate authority granted to the motor carriers who collect solid waste." *Id.* at pp. 72-73, ¶ 1. This Conclusion of Law echoes PSC precedent. *Fly-By-Nite Disposal Service, Inc.*, Case Nos. 02-1154-SWF-CN & 03-1163-MC-GI, Comm'n Or. p. 22 (Conclusion of Law 3, Feb. 25, 2008); *Morgan Sanitation & Recycling Corp.*, Case No. 98-1339, Comm'n Or. p. 3 (Conclusion of Law 1, Jan. 13, 2000).

Second, the PSC concludes that, "[u]nder the facts present in this case, consolidation of loads operations of AVW does not constitute a solid waste disposal facility requiring a separate certificate beyond the authority to operate as a trash hauler already authorized for AVW in its motor carrier certificates." App. at p. 73, ¶ 2.

Petitioners filed a Joint Motion to Stay the Commission Order in the PSC on December 6, 2023. *Id.* at pp. 77-84. Two days later, on December 8, 2023,

Petitioners filed this appeal. The PSC entered a Commission Order on January 5, 2024, denying Petitioners' Joint Motion to Stay. *Apple Valley Waste Services, Inc.*, Case No. 23-0813-SWF-PW-CN, Comm'n Or., 2024 WL 109485 (W. Va. P.S.C. Jan. 5, 2024).

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

AVW's proposed solid waste consolidation operation does not meet the definition of "commercial solid waste facility" in W. Va. Code § 22-15-2. Therefore, the PSC did not exceed its statutory jurisdiction and powers in correctly concluding that no certificate of need is required under W. Va. Code § 24-2-1c.

There are two primary reasons why the consolidation operation is not a "commercial solid waste facility." First, no "commerce" (*i.e.*, exchange or buying and selling of commodities) will occur in the consolidation operation. All solid waste consolidation efforts will be handled internally, by AVW's employees. The consolidation operation will not be open to or serve the public. No charges will be imposed on AVW's solid waste customers in addition to current rates.

Second, the definition of a "commercial solid waste facility" under § 22-15-2 requires that the facility "accept" solid waste. AVW will not "accept" solid waste in the consolidation operation. Instead, the operation will consolidate solid waste already in the possession of AVW. The operation will occur prior to transporting the waste to a commercial solid waste facility for acceptance and

10

disposal. At that subsequent facility, the waste will be accepted in exchange for the payment of a fee, in "commerce." The PSC correctly determined that the consolidation operation itself does not require a certificate of need, because there will be no commercial exchange of waste in the operation.

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